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          1  COMMITTEE ON FINANCE

          2                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Good morning.

          3  Welcome to this meeting of the City Council Finance

          4  Committee. My name is David Weprin and I chair the

          5  Committee.

          6                 Today we will take those actions

          7  necessary to recommend an Expense and Capital budget

          8  to the full City Council, as well as those actions

          9  necessary to fix the property taxes for Fiscal Year

         10  2003.

         11                 However, before we get to the

         12  upcoming fiscal year, we must close out the current

         13  fiscal year with a budget modification. We have

         14  before us MN 7, the Mayor's Expense Modification and

         15  MN 8, the Mayor's Revenue modification.

         16                 The revenue modification recognizes

         17  net additional revenues of $156.8 million. Most of

         18  the new revenue is from the sale of mortgages by HPD

         19  and reductions in prior year payables.

         20                 In addition, the Expense mod adds

         21  $264.5 million to the budget stabilization account,

         22  generated in large part by underspending, which will

         23  be used to propel Fiscal Year 2003 expenses.

         24                 Moving on to our proposed Fiscal Year

         25  2003 budget, I believe it is fair to say that the
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          2  Council's education first goals are reflected in

          3  this budget. The total expense budget is $42.3

          4  billion. Most of the $1 billion increase over last

          5  year's budget is attributable to an increase in

          6  education aid.

          7                 Moreover, this proposed budget

          8  ensures that there will be no cuts to the classroom.

          9  The Mayor's revenue estimate recognizes an increase

         10  in revenues of $475 million from its Executive

         11  Budget, with 160 million of that being in City

         12  funds.

         13                 The surplus role from the current

         14  fiscal year reflected in the more than 650 million

         15  in the budget stabilization account, together with

         16  the State actions resulting in over 400 million in

         17  additional revenues, the borrowing to help us with

         18  our post September 11th costs, and the careful,

         19  although painful cuts, we allow this budget to close

         20  -- will allow this budget to close the $5 billion

         21  gap the city was facing for the upcoming fiscal

         22  year.

         23                 In spite of the dire economic

         24  circumstances the City was facing when we embarked

         25  on this budget process, and in no way minimizing the
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          2  cuts that were made, the Council in this budget has

          3  been able to restore 175 million in proposed cuts to

          4  programs that are critical to our City.

          5                 These include significant

          6  restorations to libraries, cultural institutions,

          7  seniors, youth and other critical social service

          8  programs.

          9                 This money is in addition to the

         10  achievement of our first goal, which was to ensure

         11  that there be no cuts to the classroom.

         12                 At the same time, as we recommend a

         13  budget to the full Council, we must fix the property

         14  tax rate for Fiscal 2003. We will consider those

         15  resolutions which leave the rate unchanged.

         16                 We have numerous other actions to

         17  take today as well. We have four resolutions before

         18  us, which set discount and late payment interest

         19  rates for prepayment and late payment of real estate

         20  taxes and certain other charges for the upcoming

         21  fiscal year.

         22                 We must accept the Mayor's

         23  certification of the maximum amount of debt we can

         24  incur and adopt the resolution on the community

         25  development program.
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          2                 Finally, we have four pieces of

          3  budget-related legislation before us. The first is a

          4  proposed local law that would implement the

          5  cigarette tax increase.

          6                 The second and third pieces would

          7  implement the 30 cent e-911 surcharge on cell

          8  phones, and the additional 65 cent surcharge on land

          9  lines.

         10                 Finally, the fourth piece of

         11  legislation would decouple the City's business taxes

         12  from the large depreciation deductions which the

         13  federal government has recently given to businesses.

         14                 Without this final piece of

         15  legislation, the City stands to lose over 100

         16  million in the upcoming year.

         17                 I'm now going to call upon Nadine

         18  Felton, Assistant Director in the Finance Division,

         19  Revenue Unit, to testify.

         20                 MS. FELTON: I'm Nadine Felton, and

         21  I'm going to testify on the four resolutions that

         22  were adopted by the Banking Commission on May 22nd,

         23  that relate to the setting of the interest rates for

         24  non-payment of property taxes and other charges, and

         25  setting the discount rate for early, early payment.
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          2                 The first resolution is MN 339 -- I

          3  mean M 184, resolution 339, which sets the discount

          4  rate for early payment of the property taxes, and

          5  that discount rate is two percent. And that's for

          6  people who pay on a quarterly basis that can prepay

          7  for the second, third and fourth quarters of their

          8  payment and taxpayers who pay on the half a year,

          9  twice a year, get it for the second half. That's the

         10  two percent discount rate.

         11                 The other three resolutions relate to

         12  the interest rates for non-payment. The first one I

         13  think in front of you is M 185, Reso 340, which

         14  relates to the interest rate where the property tax,

         15  the annual property tax, is more than 2,750, that's

         16  the annual rate, that's for taxpayers who pay that

         17  amount, or if the land is vacant or unimproved, and

         18  that is 18 percent, that's for late payment or

         19  non-payment of property taxes, and it also is for

         20  non-payment of certain Board of Health and

         21  Department of Health charges.

         22                 The next resolution, M 186,

         23  Resolution Number 341, is for the interest rate

         24  where the annual property tax is less than $2,750,

         25  and that is nine percent, and, however, there is a
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          2  caveat with this. If the taxes are held in escrow

          3  and paid by a mortgage escrow agent, even if the tax

          4  bill is less than the 2,750, they are charged 18

          5  percent for late payment.

          6                 And the last resolution, M 187,

          7  Resolution number 342, is the charges for

          8  non-payment of water and sewer rates, and the

          9  interest rate there is 18 percent. If the property

         10  tax, annual tax is 2,750 or more, or if it's vacant

         11  or unimproved land or if the property taxes are paid

         12  by an escrow agent, if the annual property tax is

         13  less than 2,750 it's nine percent interest.

         14                 I don't know if you have any

         15  questions or --

         16                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Council Member

         17  Fidler had a question.

         18                 By the way, before I proceed, let me

         19  introduce my distinguished colleagues who have been

         20  working diligently these last number of months day

         21  and night in preparation for our budget, and I want

         22  to thank all my colleagues for all their hard work,

         23  as well as of course the Finance staff that worked

         24  tirelessly, many sleepless nights, many very, very

         25  late nights over the last couple of months in order
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          2  to put together the various budget proposals that we

          3  had before you.

          4                 I'm going to start all the way on our

          5  far left. First we have the distinguished Council

          6  member from the County of Kings, Council Member

          7  Tracy Linette Boyland, and we have Council Member

          8  Helen Sears from Queens, next to her. Next to

          9  Council Member Sears is Council Member Madeline

         10  Provenzano from the Bronx, and we have Council

         11  Member Michael McMahon from Staten Island, and

         12  Council Member Robert Jackson from Manhattan,

         13  Council Member Margarita Lopez from Manhattan, the

         14  pistol of the City Council, as she self-describes

         15  herself. Council Member Alan Jennings from Queens,

         16  Council Member Martin Golden of Brooklyn, and

         17  Council Member Lou Fidler of Brooklyn.

         18                 Council Member Fidler.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER: Thank you, Mr.

         20  Chairman. And I'm sure on behalf of the Committee we

         21  also want to thank you and the Finance staff for the

         22  excellent work that's been done and the hard work

         23  that's been done.

         24                 On these four resos where the

         25  interest rate varies based upon the tax bill level
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          2  --

          3                 MS. FELTON: Yes.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER: Do these bills

          5  change that cutoff level? Was it $2,750 in Fiscal

          6  Year '02?

          7                 MS. FELTON: Yes. Yes.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER: It is the

          9  same?

         10                 MS. FELTON: Yes. This has been what

         11  the level has been for several years, the 2,750,

         12  yes.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER: So there has

         14  been no accommodation made for the fact that

         15  assessments are creeping up and therefore the tax

         16  bills are creeping up and more people are falling

         17  into this category.

         18                 MS. FELTON: No, but that doesn't mean

         19  that one couldn't be suggested.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER: Thank you.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Council Member

         22  McMahon.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER McMAHON: Thank you,

         24  Mr. Chairman.

         25                 Nadine, if I understand this
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          2  correctly, the resolutions that are setting the

          3  interest rate at 18 percent for non-payment of real

          4  estate taxes and water and sewer rents, are those

          5  continuing what exists now; is that correct?

          6                 MS. FELTON: That's correct, yes.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER McMAHON: All right.

          8  And the bill we're voting to allow a two percent

          9  reduction for people who prepay their real estate

         10  taxes, in effect they would be paying less tax;

         11  isn't that correct?

         12                 MS. FELTON: That's correct, yes.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER McMAHON: So, by voting

         14  for that I'm voting for a tax cut; isn't that

         15  correct?

         16                 MS. FELTON: Yes, they get a break,

         17  yes.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER McMAHON: Is the

         19  reporter from the Staten Island Advance here? Could

         20  you please get someone that we'll be voting for a

         21  tax -- the Council is voting for a tax cut today; is

         22  that correct?

         23                 MS. FELTON: Yes.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER McMAHON: I don't care

         25  what the people do, I'm voting for a tax cut.
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          2                 MS. FELTON: Yes. In fact, I believe

          3  the bills that people receive actually have the --

          4  if you pay the discount it will give you the actual

          5  amount that you pay, the lower monthly rate, the

          6  lower quarterly rate.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER McMAHON: And it should

          8  say that this tax cut has been provided by the New

          9  York City Council --

         10                 MS. FELTON: We have to approve --

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER McMAHON: Thank you,

         12  Mr. Chairman.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Very astute

         14  observation, Council Member McMahon, and I

         15  appreciate you pointing that out to the members of

         16  the Committee, as well as the members of the public

         17  and press that are present here today.

         18                 Council Member Jennings.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER JENNINGS: Thank you,

         20  Mr. Chairman.

         21                 I have this one concern on Resolution

         22  341 and Resolution 342, where if the taxes being

         23  held in escrow, property tax or any other sewer

         24  taxes being held escrow by the mortgage company, if

         25  the mortgage company fails to mail the payment on
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          2  time, there's going to be an 18 percent interest

          3  rate, correct?

          4                 MS. FELTON: Yes.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER JENNINGS: So,

          6  therefore, the home-owner is penalized as far as the

          7  mortgage company may have made a mistake; is that

          8  correct?

          9                 MS. FELTON: Yes, but I believe that

         10  the law mandates that they pay on time.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER JENNINGS: Absolutely

         12  they should.

         13                 MS. FELTON: As you know, and probably

         14  it would be a case where the escrow agent is

         15  fiduciary --

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER JENNINGS: Correct. And

         17  I would hope that in the future, that maybe we would

         18  adjust this reso in the future to make sure that the

         19  escrow company is the one that's penalized, not the

         20  home-owners. Because I think many of us, or many

         21  people in New York City are innocent home-owners,

         22  they pay their mortgage on time, and the escrow

         23  company should pay the taxes on time, and if they

         24  don't pay the taxes on time, there's an 18 percent

         25  interest rate and the home-owner is going to get
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          2  penalized for it, and I don't think this is quite

          3  fair to the home-owners and I hope that this

          4  Committee will look in the future on adjusting this

          5  that this charge is placed solely on the

          6  responsibility of the mortgage companies and the

          7  home-owners are not penalized for this.

          8                 Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

          9                 MS. FELTON: Thank you.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Council Member

         11  Lopez.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: I wanted to

         13  talk on both points that my colleagues just spoke

         14  before, but I just think that we need to make a

         15  clarification in regard of the escrow account when

         16  the mortgage company do not pay on time what are the

         17  penalties to them when they don't pay on time?

         18                 MS. FELTON: For the escrow account,

         19  yes. I don't know if there's anybody --

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: I know the

         21  answer, but go ahead.

         22                 UNIDENTIFIED SPEAKER: It's between

         23  you and your lender, and, you know, if it happened

         24  to me, I'd make sure that my lender took it out of

         25  their hide and not mine. The only exception to which
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          2  would be if I were not current on my mortgage and

          3  therefore my escrow account had not been funded,

          4  then it would be my fault.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: The reason why

          6  I'm raising this issue is these hearings are

          7  televised and the citizens who are listening to this

          8  should know that they have resources to go and

          9  demand that that money don't be taken from them, and

         10  they also can report the particular mortgage company

         11  to the federal pertinent authorities that monitor

         12  and take care of them.

         13                 Then it's very important to clarify

         14  that point that the homeowner who is being taken

         15  advantage by the mortgage company do have a way to

         16  handle this and deal with it.

         17                 The other thing I wanted to ask you,

         18  who recommended this 18 percent and based on what?

         19  Can you clarify this for the public, please?

         20                 MS. FELTON: The 18 percent is

         21  recommended by the Banking Commission. They're the

         22  people who adopt these resolutions, and it's

         23  mandated that the rates be set for the 18 percent

         24  anyway, at least six percent above the prime rate.

         25  Now the prime rate has been slightly lower than it's
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          2  been usually. At the time when these resolutions

          3  were adopted in May, the prime rate was 4.75

          4  percent, which would put that to 10.75 percent.

          5                 It's been, the interest rates have

          6  been at nine and 18 percent for many years, so this

          7  has been kind of a --

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: Then in a way

          9  it's out of our hands, in regard of this 18 percent

         10  to be lower?

         11                 MS. FELTON: I believe so, but we

         12  probably -- I don't know if Jim knows on a legal --

         13  Jim, do you know on the legal position, the Banking

         14  Commission, the rates are set by them, right?

         15                 JIM: (Not identified for the record.)

         16  Recommended by them.

         17                 MS. FELTON: Recommended by them. We

         18  set the rates.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: But to what

         20  degree we have the latitude to be able to be in

         21  opposition to this?

         22                 MR. CARAS: Is this on or?

         23                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Identify yourself

         24  for the record, Mr. Caras.

         25                 MR. CARAS: Jim Caras, Counsel to the
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          2  Committee.

          3                 The Charter, and in some cases

          4  administrative code provision provide that the rates

          5  for, let me just get my bearings here for one

          6  second, I'm sorry Council Member.

          7                 In certain cases, such as parcels

          8  where the real estate tax is not more than 2,700 --

          9  the lower real estate taxes on partials, the law

         10  requires that the interest rate set be at least

         11  equal to the prime rate and in other cases where the

         12  taxes are more the law requires that the late

         13  interest rate be at least six percent above the

         14  prime rate.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: Okay.

         16                 MR. CARAS: And these are the rates

         17  that have been in place for several years, as long

         18  as I have been the Counsel to the Committee, four

         19  years and longer than that.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: Thank you very

         21  much.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Okay, thank you,

         23  Ms. Felton.

         24                 We're now going to take up the four

         25  proposals. The first one being the cigarette tax
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          2  legislation. The second one being the cell phone

          3  legislation.

          4                 The third one being the land line

          5  phone tax bill, and the fourth being the decoupling

          6  bill.

          7                 Is there someone here from the

          8  Administration to testify on these four bills?

          9                 ASSOCIATE COMMISSIONER SCHUPER: Good

         10  morning, Mr. Chairman, members of the Committee. My

         11  name is Israel Schuper. I'm Associate Commissioner

         12  for Tax Policy with the Department of Finance.

         13                 The cigarette tax bill --

         14                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Will you identify

         15  your colleague, as well?

         16                 MR. KAYE: Yes. Good morning. My name

         17  is Jeff Kaye, Assistant Director of

         18  Intergovernmental Relations at the Office of

         19  Management and Budget.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Thank you.

         21                 ASSOCIATE COMMISSIONER SCHUPER: Thank

         22  you, Mr. Chairman. I'm testifying on the cigarette

         23  tax bill. The bill that was passed yesterday in the

         24  State Legislature calls for an increase in the

         25  cigarette tax as of July 2nd from eight cents up to
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          2  a dollar, an increase of $1.42, bring the City

          3  cigarette tax to $1.50. This is an important part of

          4  the City budget balancing menu, and I'm here to

          5  answer any questions on that tax.

          6                 The other bill related to the

          7  coupling, Mr. Chairman, relates to federal, the

          8  federal stimulus package which was passed earlier

          9  this year, which requires, which allows additional

         10  deductions for depreciation, for real property and

         11  certain other tangible property. We are, the City is

         12  decoupling, or proposing to decouple most for the

         13  depreciation, the increased depreciation deduction,

         14  except for the area of Lower Manhattan and in the

         15  resurgence zone.

         16                 So, this decoupling from the other

         17  parts of this legislation would also generate a

         18  savings to the City budget, what I believe is at

         19  $108 million this year.

         20                 Those two pieces, the cigarette tax

         21  bill, and the decoupling together will generate over

         22  $200 million in either savings, or preventing the

         23  loss or increased revenues.

         24                 The other two remaining bills are

         25  local laws which would increase the e-911 land line
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          2  surcharge, the current surcharge being opposed of 35

          3  cents to one dollar, which is an increase of 65

          4  cents per month, and the second bill which gave the

          5  City the authorization and State legislation would

          6  increase the current wireless surcharge an

          7  additional 30 cents for which the entire surcharge

          8  would be remitted to the City of New York.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: We've been joined

         10  by some additional colleagues of mine that have not

         11  been introduced.

         12                 We have our Majority Whip, Council

         13  Member Leroy Comrie from Queens, and we have Council

         14  Member Bill DeBlasio from Brooklyn, although he's

         15  identified as Bill Perkins.

         16                 Proceed. I'm sorry.

         17                 Any members have questions?

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: Yes.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Council Member

         20  Margarita Lopez.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: Why is it that

         22  the Administration choose to pass the people who

         23  work in this City, instead of putting a scheme of

         24  progressive taxes in place, these are regressive

         25  taxes, and this kind of taxes do not resolve the
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          2  crisis that we have in this City in a more permanent

          3  manner, when the Administration know that the

          4  promise that we have now are going to continue until

          5  the next fiscal year; what is the logic for this?

          6                 ASSOCIATE COMMISSIONER SCHUPER: The

          7  Mayor asked the Legislature to provide the

          8  authorization for the City to impose an additional

          9  cigarette tax to curb smoking for the young

         10  children.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: People do not

         12  stop smoking because they have to pay more taxes in

         13  the cigarettes that they smoke. What they're going

         14  to do is to continue to smoke, getting sicker and

         15  have less money to eat. That's not the way to

         16  eliminate smoking in this City. That is a way to

         17  make the coffers of the City reach on the backs of

         18  people who are working families, that's what that is

         19  about. And it also doesn't deter young people from

         20  smoking. Education, putting in place programs that

         21  make people understand that this is something that

         22  goes against their health, that's the way to deal

         23  with the problem of tobacco smoking, but it's not

         24  about taxing the people who work in this City so

         25  hard for the monies that they earn.
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          2                 Then in my opinion, when the Mayor

          3  said that he's not willing to increase taxes, what

          4  he's saying depends to who we are going to increase

          5  taxes. The same thing go to the taxes for the

          6  cellular phone, the same thing goes for the 911

          7  taxation that is put in place here.

          8                 Then I feel very, very unhappy with

          9  the proposal. I feel more unhappy that it's done in

         10  a way that is putting us against the wall because we

         11  have a budgetary crisis, and if the only way that

         12  we're going to be dealing from now on with this

         13  budgetary crisis, is with this kind of taxation

         14  schemes, we are a very sorry City. We cannot come

         15  and together and collectively agree to put a

         16  taxation scheme that is present on all of us, like

         17  progressive taxation that the Council propose in our

         18  negotiations this year.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Any other Council

         20  members have questions?

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER JENNINGS: Yes.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Council Member

         23  Jennings.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER JENNINGS: Gentlemen, I

         25  believe that the Council, in one of its committees
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          2  there was a bill submitted by myself, I think before

          3  the Mayor had submitted this on raising income taxes

          4  on cigarettes only 75 cents. And the reason for that

          5  is there is a fiscal average that when you tax it

          6  too much, you actually may lose more revenue.

          7                 Did you guys take into account by

          8  going as high as $1.50 that we may in fact lose more

          9  revenue if we had had it at a lower rate?

         10                 ASSOCIATE COMMISSIONER SCHUPER: I

         11  think that when the Mayor originally had proposed,

         12  he had stressed that although it obviously does

         13  bring --

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER JENNINGS: I'm sorry, I

         15  can't hear you.

         16                 ASSOCIATE COMMISSIONER SCHUPER: When

         17  the Mayor had originally proposed the cigarette tax,

         18  although obviously it does bring in revenues, it

         19  wasn't a revenue producing agenda.

         20                 In fact, as you're aware, obviously,

         21  if you increase taxes higher, it does what it's

         22  intended to do, which is to curb smoking, which in

         23  turn produces the amount of revenue that in fact you

         24  do bring into the City.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER JENNINGS: So, our goal
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          2  in this legislation is really to curb smoking?

          3                 ASSOCIATE COMMISSIONER SCHUPER: That

          4  is the main intention of this legislation.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER JENNINGS: Not to gain

          6  revenue?

          7                 ASSOCIATE COMMISSIONER SCHUPER: It

          8  just so happens that this actually does bring in

          9  additional revenue.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER JENNINGS: Because, you

         11  know, if we had a lower rate, we probably would have

         12  maximized the revenue. You're aware of that, right?

         13                 ASSOCIATE COMMISSIONER SCHUPER: What?

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER JENNINGS: You're aware

         15  that if the rate was a little lower, we probably

         16  would have maximized revenue?

         17                 ASSOCIATE COMMISSIONER SCHUPER: There

         18  is a zero sum game, depending on how high you

         19  increase the taxes, that's correct.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER JENNINGS: Okay. Thank

         21  you.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Any other Council

         23  members? This could be a record for this Committee.

         24  It's been a long process.

         25                 Thank you.
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          2                 ASSOCIATE COMMISSIONER SCHUPER:

          3  You're welcome.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: If you could bear

          5  with me, the budget modification should be here in

          6  about a minute, so if the members would just please

          7  stay here so we don't have to lose our quorum, I

          8  would appreciate it. No recess, just stay here.

          9  We'll just have a pause, not a recess. No playing

         10  outside.

         11                 (Off the record.)

         12                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: We're going to

         13  take a recess until twelve noon. We're going to be

         14  back in session at twelve noon.

         15                 (Recess taken).

         16                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: The Council

         17  Finance Committee is back in session.

         18                 We're now going to take up the two

         19  revenue mods, MN 7 and MN 8. I'd like to reintroduce

         20  my colleagues that are here, and thank them for

         21  coming back.

         22                 Council Member Tracy Boyland of

         23  Brooklyn, Council Member Helen Sears of Queens.

         24  We've been joined by Council Member Gale Brewer of

         25  Manhattan, Council Member Robert Jackson of
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          2  Manhattan, Council Member Margarita Lopez of

          3  Manhattan, our Majority Leader Joel Rivera from the

          4  Bronx, and Council Member Bill DeBlasio from

          5  Brooklyn.

          6                 We're now going to hear from a

          7  distinguished group of panelists from our

          8  distinguished Finance Division, and if they fall

          9  asleep in the middle of their testimony, it's

         10  because they were up all night finalizing the

         11  budget.

         12                 We'll start with the revenue mod;

         13  would someone like to start?

         14                 MR. ZANGERLE: Pablo Zangerle, City

         15  Council Finance Division.

         16                 This modification MN 8 seeks to

         17  increase revenues in a net amount of $156,825,623,

         18  for Fiscal 2002.

         19                 This amount results from increases in

         20  miscellaneous revenue of 236.2 million savings in

         21  prior year payables of 150 million, and it's offset

         22  by decreases in tax collections of 91.7 million, and

         23  decreases in unrestricted aid of 137.7 million.

         24                 If you have any questions, I'd be

         25  happy to entertain them.
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          2                 MR. TRAMONTANO: Just to give you an

          3  overview on the two mods together, at this point,

          4  for Fiscal Year '02 --

          5                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Frank, could you

          6  just identify yourself for the record?

          7                 MR. TRAMONTANO: Frank Tramontano,

          8  City Council Finance Division, First Deputy

          9  Director.

         10                 The two mods together change the role

         11  for Fiscal Year '02, which is the bulk of what we're

         12  doing here for this modification.

         13                 The Executive Plan, the Fiscal Year

         14  '02 role was projected to be 322 million, as of

         15  today with these modifications, the role for Fiscal

         16  Year '02, which is actually how we prepay expenses

         17  for '03 and reduce our liability in '03, or reduce

         18  our gap in '03 is now $658 million. So, there was

         19  approximately $336 million in additional resources

         20  that were found between the Executive Budget,

         21  Executive Plan and this now adopted plan, and that's

         22  the effect of these two MNs in an overview.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Ms. Emanuel, did

         24  you have a statement? No.

         25                 Questions from our members?
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          2                 Yes, Council Member Boyland.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER BOYLAND: Good

          4  afternoon.

          5                 Cheech, you said that there was

          6  additional revenue that was found between -- exactly

          7  where did the money come from?

          8                 MR. TRAMONTANO: Good question. Both

          9  in the revenue and the expense side, the biggest

         10  piece that we see is the pension valuation, the

         11  actuary does a true-up, what they call a "true-up"

         12  for the end of the year, and based on his new

         13  calculations, the City had to contribute 123 million

         14  less for the pension system for this fiscal year.

         15                 The mortgage sales that were

         16  anticipated I believe at 200 million, actually came

         17  in at 259 million, there were non-tax revenue

         18  increases of about 77 million. There was

         19  underspending in the plan of about 83 million, and

         20  then there were what they call prior payables of 150

         21  million, and then generally taxes were offset, taxes

         22  were down by 137 million. Those items together get

         23  about 350 some odd million, which is the difference

         24  in the roll from the Exec to the adopted.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER BOYLAND: Thank you,
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          2  Cheech.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Council Member

          4  McMahon.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER McMAHON: Thank you.

          6                 Cheech, we've been provided with this

          7  chart for MN 7, and that comes up with I guess the

          8  total amount there, the 569,832, that's a part of

          9  the increase in the -- help me. Help me. That's the

         10  increase?

         11                 MR. TRAMONTANO: That represents just

         12  the changes within agencies, money moving,

         13  transferring from one agency to another. It is also

         14  where you'll find $83 million of underspending. It

         15  is also where you will find the money going into the

         16  budget stabilization account, the increase that I

         17  talked about in the rolls will show up in the budget

         18  stabilization account, and that's how we prepay our

         19  debt service, or whatever we have to prepay for next

         20  year's expenses. It shows up in this MN, in the

         21  budget stabilization account, and it also shows up

         22  in the revenue MN and the budget stabilization

         23  account is increased.

         24                 But this basically represents the

         25  changes within agencies. A lot of it is collective
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          2  bargaining that may have moved from the Labor

          3  Reserve to the specific agency that had this

          4  collective bargaining increases, it also represents

          5  a lot of the underspending that I talked about

          6  throughout, those are the general stuff and if there

          7  were any new needs they'll be in there.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER McMAHON: But, for

          9  instance, if I look at, just using it as an example,

         10  the Department of Sanitation, it says from 27

         11  million, that means that 27 million was taken from

         12  the Department of Sanitation's budget?

         13                 And then it also says "too," that

         14  means somehow they increased some other money of

         15  roughly 3 million?

         16                 MR. TRAMONTANO: That's right. In your

         17  package, you'll have a write-up, I believe should be

         18  in there, it's this document (indicating). Well, we

         19  don't have a cover, but it's the MN 7 document, it

         20  should be about 30 pages or so. You'll see it's

         21  index, that will give you each department. All the

         22  details that's in this MN 7 are in that package. You

         23  can read them. If you want to take a second to look

         24  over them, it would probably be a good idea and then

         25  you could ask for questions.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER McMAHON: Okay, thank

          3  you.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Council Member

          5  DeBlasio.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER DeBLASIO: Thank you,

          7  Mr. Chair.

          8                 Given the serious nature of what

          9  we're doing, I simply can't call him "Cheech." So,

         10  I'm going to say First Deputy Director Tramontano.

         11                 Obviously the First Deputy Director

         12  is having delusions of grandeur if he wants to be

         13  compared to Madonna or Cher, but he's been working

         14  very hard. He's been working very hard. I have seen

         15  him in high heels, but I'm not going into that now.

         16                 Now, let me ask you, I think I

         17  obviously followed the broad point you're making,

         18  but let me just be a little concerned to make sure

         19  we're all understanding each other.

         20                 Taking two very, very basic areas of

         21  concern to every community, Board of Ed and Fire

         22  Department. I understand you're making a variety of

         23  transfers, and I'm looking at the chart here, and I

         24  understand all of these transfers for a variety of

         25  reasons, including cost savings and contractual
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          2  changes, et cetera. But help us understand when you

          3  see what appears to be a net loss, how do we know

          4  that does not affect direct service?

          5                 MS. EMANUEL: Staci Emanuel, Deputy

          6  Director, City Council Finance Division.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER DeBLASIO: I won't call

          8  you Cheech either.

          9                 MS. EMANUEL: Within the Board of Ed

         10  you see a net loss of 97 million, primarily that is

         11  the district and high school roll. They developed a

         12  surplus this year of about 150 million in total, and

         13  that is being rolled over into Fiscal 2003. So,

         14  that's what that number represents.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER DeBLASIO: I want to

         16  just be careful, maybe a semanatic difference, maybe

         17  not. I hear you and I appreciate that answer.

         18                 My impression is it was a contingency

         19  hold, not a quote/unquote surplus. I think it's

         20  important that the public understand that point, and

         21  we can debate this at another time, but my

         22  understanding was it was money that was being held

         23  in light of a declining situation, not money that

         24  was a purer surplus. But it's the same outcome, you

         25  know.
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          2                 MS. EMANUEL: They thought they were

          3  facing cuts in '03. A lot of the districts stopped

          4  spending.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER DeBLASIO: Correct,

          6  right.

          7                 MS. EMANUEL: So they developed a

          8  surplus which is now being rolled so that they can

          9  have it in Fiscal 2003.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER DeBLASIO: Mr.

         11  Chairman, Ms. Emanuel is clearly a budget expert,

         12  but I'm trying to help her with her spin, the word

         13  "surplus" is a bad thing.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: She was up all

         15  night, so she is spinning.

         16                 MS. EMANUEL: You're right.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER DeBLASIO: We certainly

         18  want to be clear to the people of New York City.

         19  There was no big surplus sitting around of money

         20  that was being ready to be spent in the districts,

         21  was held back in light of the financial situation in

         22  '02, now that money rolls to '03.

         23                 MS. EMANUEL: Right, and that's the

         24  district's choice to do that.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER DeBLASIO: But just
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          2  vis-a-vis '03, none of this suggests any cut to

          3  instruction or basic operation in '03?

          4                 MS. EMANUEL: No.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER DeBLASIO: Okay. And

          6  the same with fire?

          7                 MS. EMANUEL: Fire, pretty much this

          8  is -- there is an increase in EMS revenues on the

          9  fire side, so it allowed them to take savings on tax

         10  levy from EMS revenues.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER DeBLASIO: Very good.

         12                 Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Do any members

         14  have questions?

         15                 Okay, we're going to stand in recess

         16  until about 1:00.

         17                 Do you have a question? Do you have a

         18  question for the witness?

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: I just need to

         20  clarify what is the procedure in here right now.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: At the vote at

         22  the end, after the budget books are given out and

         23  we're going to vote on all the items together.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: Then when we

         25  come back we will be able to make comments and
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          2  questions in regard of the next set of package that

          3  we are going to give it, including the four

          4  proposals for tax increase on the telephones.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: No, we had that

          6  already, we heard already from the Administration,

          7  nobody had questions.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: Then I need to

          9  clarify something here.

         10                 I hear a piece of information that

         11  came there about 911. I want that to be repeated, in

         12  regard of the ambulance services, in regard of what

         13  you said, we found some changes under EMS. Please,

         14  can you report that on the record?

         15                 MR. TRAMONTANO: Yes. There were

         16  increased revenues that were recognized in this plan

         17  from EMS.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: How much money

         19  are we talking about?

         20                 MR. TRAMONTANO: Seventeen million.

         21  Nine was in the original Executive Budget plan,

         22  another eight was added since the executive budget

         23  was released on April 17th. They recognized another

         24  eight. I believe for the year the total was around

         25  $103 million in EMS revenues.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: This is a very

          3  serious piece of information that had been revealed

          4  here right now, and we have been conducting our

          5  budget negotiations, assuming there was a particular

          6  problem in regard to that.

          7                 I have opposed the action to

          8  eliminate, reduce or cut any ambulance services. Now

          9  we hear that the Mayor is informing us that it's a

         10  revenue increase in that arena, nonetheless, we

         11  eliminated 35 rolls of 911 services for our people

         12  in this City.

         13                 What are we doing in here? I don't

         14  understand it. I'm very sorry, but somebody has to

         15  clarify this point for me, because if we're going to

         16  be voting in this Council about issues based on the

         17  political perception the Mayor have that we need to

         18  privatize the ambulance services, this Council has

         19  to stand strong against it. And if it's not that

         20  what we're doing, if it's based on dollars and

         21  cents, then I want to understand what you're telling

         22  us now, because the dollars that you're talking

         23  about contradict totally the basis in which we've

         24  been working in regard to the ambulance services.

         25                 MR. TRAMONTANO: I think when we tried
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          2  to make the same arguments with the other side, they

          3  were telling us that it still costs money overall,

          4  because while we got 103 million in revenue, the

          5  cost for EMS in total was around $140 million or so.

          6  They're saying there are revenue there, but we tried

          7  to make the point that, yes, you could do some

          8  things to do better collections of revenues, that

          9  you could do tours in regular time, but this didn't

         10  just go anywhere. We still believe that it doesn't

         11  cost as much as they say it does.

         12                 But in the end, we didn't win with

         13  that battle.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: I have tried to

         15  be very responsible here, and I have tried to put

         16  aside ideology in all of the process I have done in

         17  here during my time in that budget negotiation.

         18                 Right now, I'm seeing something that

         19  had to do more with ideology, and nothing to do with

         20  the budget in regard of cutting those 37 lines of

         21  ambulance services for our people. And somehow this

         22  Council needs to go further on this issue and not

         23  simply accept the proposition that has been put in

         24  place by the Mayor in regard to this.

         25                 And I call the attentions of my
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          2  colleagues on this issue. I don't know how we're

          3  going to proceed, I don't have no idea, but I am

          4  this close, this close to vote against this budget.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Council Member

          6  Lopez, we're not going to be voting on -- we're

          7  voting on restoring the money for the ambulances,

          8  not removing, just so you know when we get to the

          9  vote.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: I understand

         11  the clarification that you're making. What I'm

         12  saying is that this has repercussion in the entire

         13  budget, and the totality of that budget that we're

         14  going to be voting in that room.

         15                 The 911 ambulance services for our

         16  City is critical, and it's shameful that at the 911

         17  tragedy we are talking about something like this,

         18  and that we have not been able to negotiate this in

         19  a more sensible manner.

         20                 I don't know who, why or what, I

         21  don't know where we're going with this issue, but

         22  I'm telling you now publicly, I intend to submit

         23  legislation therefore to make sure that the

         24  ambulance services of our City is a public service

         25  and not a privatized venture for people to make
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          2  money out of the life of people in this City. And in

          3  the Council, we have to take a position that is very

          4  strong, very clear, in regard to this.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: I appreciate your

          6  position, Council Member, and I feel strongly

          7  myself. Just to clarify for the record, that you

          8  will not be voting, if you vote for the budget, for

          9  privatizing the ambulances, what you're going to be

         10  voting for is restoring money that was taken out of

         11  the budget that we're putting back in.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: I understand

         13  that. I know that we have restored the money. I

         14  understand that the Council has been very

         15  conscientious about not allowing these budget cuts

         16  to take place. I understand all that. But in here, a

         17  proposal to eliminate routes of ambulance services

         18  for all of us has been put on the table under the

         19  premises that we did not have the money for it.

         20                 Now we find out that it's money

         21  making venture in the process, and then we now can

         22  justify the elimination of those 35 routes?

         23                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: No, I hear what

         24  you're saying. I'm just saying when you say about

         25  voting for the budget and not voting for the budget,
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          2  all we're voting for is restoring money that will

          3  pay for half the ambulance routes.

          4                 We're not removing anything, we're

          5  restoring.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: I understand

          7  that, David. But perhaps my bilingualism impair me

          8  some time when I get upset, to be able to express

          9  myself adequately. I understand, and I appreciate

         10  the clarification that you made, I do.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: In good

         12  conscience you don't have to feel you're voting

         13  against removing, you're voting for restoring. If

         14  you don't vote for it, then it's not restored. At

         15  least the half of them.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: I understand.

         17  And I don't want to create any particular situation

         18  for the members of the Committee or for the Council

         19  in itself, but I feel that we have been put against

         20  a wall on this issue from the side of the Mayor.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: We appreciate

         22  that, and you'll have an opportunity on the floor to

         23  make whatever statement you want on that issue as

         24  well.

         25                 Council Member Provenzano.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER PROVENZANO: Thank you.

          3                 In looking through this wonderful

          4  piece of whatever that you guys did, I noticed that

          5  most of the agencies, Borough Presidents, whatever,

          6  heat, light and power adjustment, does that mean

          7  that at the end of the fiscal year they didn't have

          8  enough money to pay this stuff so we had to give

          9  them more money to pay for it?

         10                 MR. TRAMONTANO: No, I think primarily

         11  it represents savings that we were anticipating in

         12  the budget -- it was anticipated one general agency

         13  that didn't appear in the budget as a plan number,

         14  and then at the end of the year allocates throughout

         15  the agency where those savings that were in the plan

         16  actually happened.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER PROVENZANO: So, when I

         18  look at whatever, Borough President of the Bronx,

         19  which is one I happen to be on, and this heat, light

         20  and power adjustment of $7,546 and it's in

         21  parentheses, that means what?

         22                 MR. TRAMONTANO: Negative. That was a

         23  savings.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER PROVENZANO: A savings.

         25                 MR. TRAMONTANO: Anything in
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          2  parentheses is a savings.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER PROVENZANO: So that

          4  means they were very good in keeping their lights

          5  off and not doing the --

          6                 MR. TRAMONTANO: Or they were

          7  overbudgeted. One or the other.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER PROVENZANO: Or they

          9  were overbudgeted. Thank you.

         10                 MS. ANGELO: Council member, generally

         11  speaking heat, light and power is over-estimated. In

         12  most years you find at the end of the year money was

         13  put in for heat, light and power that is not spent,

         14  which is why the Council proposed, when we proposed

         15  our cuts, reducing heat, light and power across the

         16  board.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER PROVENZANO: Is that

         18  also a sneaky way of just saving money so at the end

         19  of the year you know you have $7,000 or $8,000 to do

         20  something else with?

         21                 MS. ANGELO: No comment.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Any other Council

         23  member have questions?

         24                 I'm going to ask once more and then

         25  we're going to take a recess.
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          2                 Any other Council members have

          3  questions? Okay, we're going to stand in recess for

          4  20 minutes.

          5                 (Recess taken.)

          6                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: This Committee is

          7  now back in session.

          8                 We are now going to consider a bill

          9  at the request of the Mayor in relation to provision

         10  of a temporary retirement system for certain

         11  employees of the City of New York.

         12                 We're going to hear testimony from

         13  Jeff Kaye from the Office of Management and Budget.

         14                 Please reidentify yourself for the

         15  record.

         16                 MR. KAYE: Good afternoon. My name is

         17  Jeff Kaye, Assistant Director of Intergovernmental

         18  Relations at the Office of Management and Budget.

         19                 This proposed law makes available for

         20  New York City employees the provisions of part A of

         21  the early retirement incentive statute enacted by

         22  the State Legislature, and establishes the open

         23  period for retirement commencing on July 11th, 2002,

         24  and ending on October 8th, 2002.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Any questions
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          2  from the members?

          3                 Mr. Kaye, can you explain the state

          4  provisions of the program eligibility, et cetera?

          5                 MR. KAYE: Sure.

          6                 The State legislation is broke up

          7  into two parts, part A and part B. Part A is

          8  essentially one month of additional service for

          9  every year of service. One additional month of

         10  credit for every year of service to a maximum of

         11  three years. To be eligible for part A, you need to

         12  be targeted in by title by the executive branch of

         13  the local government.

         14                 Part B is as of right for all New

         15  York City employees, so 55/25, which is age 55, 25

         16  years of service you can retire, regardless of your

         17  current eligibility. These are for all civilian

         18  employees.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Any Council

         20  Members have questions?

         21                 Council Member McMahon.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER McMAHON: Good morning.

         23  Good afternoon.

         24                 MR. KAYE: Good afternoon.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER McMAHON: Is this the
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          2  10:00 meeting?

          3                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Yes.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER McMAHON: Other than

          5  what we see in front of us, has there been an

          6  agreement to broaden the early retirement program?

          7  And if so, how will you determine the eligibility

          8  for that?

          9                 MR. KAYE: In negotiations with the

         10  Municipal Labor Coalition, when we agreed to do the

         11  COLA refinancing to stretch out as part of the $500

         12  million contingency provisions in the budget, it was

         13  agreed upon with the MLC and DC 37 that the broadest

         14  possible eligibility of titles will be agreed upon

         15  when the Administration submits the list for early

         16  retirement. So that was agreed upon in writing with

         17  DC 37, that the Administration will take the

         18  broadest possible range of titles to be eligible.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER McMAHON: And do you

         20  know how that will be worked out? I mean, is there a

         21  process already contemplated as to determine which

         22  titles will be --

         23                 MR. KAYE: We've had processes done in

         24  the past. We're looking to do the similar process

         25  for which as soon as possible, they'll be reached
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          2  out to the agencies, the agencies will compile a

          3  targeting list to let the employees know as soon as

          4  possible, before the open period begins, so they can

          5  make a decision whether or not they would like to

          6  accept early retirement or not.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER McMAHON: Thank you.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Any other

          9  members?

         10                 Council Member Golden.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER GOLDEN: Thank you, Mr.

         12  Chairman.

         13                 Do we know how many people -- what

         14  are we basing it on, the number of people that we

         15  believe will take -- exercise this option?

         16                 MR. KAYE: The estimates that I've

         17  ranged, we've assumed that this particular bill will

         18  provide about $20 million worth of savings to the

         19  budget.

         20                 It depends on a number of factors

         21  obviously. I think the budget targeted approximately

         22  5,000 employees between severance and early

         23  retirement, to have something in that range.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER GOLDEN: And how many

         25  are in the executive group?
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          2                 MR. KAYE: It was just the same

          3  number.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER GOLDEN: Same number?

          5                 MR. KAYE: Or they're all within the

          6  5,000 or another 5,000?

          7                 MR. KAYE: I'm sorry?

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER GOLDEN: All within the

          9  5,000 number?

         10                 MR. KAYE: Yes.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER GOLDEN: Thank you.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER McMAHON: If I could,

         13  Mr. Chairman, continue?

         14                 Regarding severance, can you explain

         15  to us how that will work? Contemplated behind the

         16  idea for severance.

         17                 MR. KAYE: Severance is a mandatory

         18  subject of negotiations for which you need to have a

         19  collective bargaining agreement or side agreement

         20  with the unions to implement a severance package for

         21  which we will be going forward with the unions, and

         22  meeting with them very shortly, to discuss the

         23  possibility of severance and the specific provisions

         24  of severance.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER McMAHON: And regarding
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          2  the employees of the City Council, is there an

          3  agreement that the City Council will be able to make

          4  the determination about its own employees?

          5                 MR. KAYE: At this point I'm not aware

          6  of any agreement one way or the other.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER McMAHON: Has that been

          8  discussed at all, do you know?

          9                 MR. KAYE: Not that I'm aware of.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Any other

         11  questions?

         12                 Okay, thank you.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER McMAHON: If I could,

         14  I'm sorry.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: One more, Council

         16  Member McMahon.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER McMAHON: It seems that

         18  in the past I guess the City Council has had the

         19  right to make determinations in this area for the

         20  City Council employees; is it correct that that has

         21  been the track record in the past?

         22                 MR. KAYE: I haven't been involved in

         23  the actual negotiations with the City Council with

         24  the earlier time in the past, but it is my

         25  understanding that we have worked hand-in-hand with
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          2  the City Council to review the titles.  As we go

          3  forward, it's my understanding we'll continue to do

          4  that.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER McMAHON: Is there any

          6  reason for you to think that we would not continue

          7  to do that?

          8                 MR. KAYE: Not that I'm aware of.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER McMAHON: But no

         10  commitment has been made at that point; is that it?

         11                 MR. KAYE: Again, not that I'm aware

         12  of at this time.

         13                 I don't anticipate that there will be

         14  any problem with reviewing the number of titles with

         15  the Council.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER McMAHON: Thank you.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Any further

         18  questions?

         19                 Okay, we're now going to take up the

         20  resolution of the Council fixing the tax rate for

         21  the Fiscal Year 2003, and we're going to hear

         22  testimony from Nadine Felton, Assistant Director of

         23  the Finance Division.

         24                 MS. FELTON: I'm Nadine Felton.

         25                 In your packet there should be
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          2  something that looks like this, the "Tax Fixing

          3  Resolution," there are actually three resolutions

          4  that go into adopting the property tax rates for

          5  Fiscal '03, and first of all, we are, although you

          6  all know that there are four classes of real

          7  property, tax classes of property in the City of New

          8  York, we are, this year the Council, the overall tax

          9  rate of $10.37 for $100 of assessed value is the

         10  overall tax rate we are using in the tax fixing

         11  resolution, and we are also raising the real estate

         12  tax levy for Fiscal '03, which is about $9.8

         13  billion. You subtract from that a reserve and we

         14  will actually plan to collect about 9 billion in

         15  property tax revenue in Fiscal '03. So these

         16  resolutions pertain to that.

         17                 The first two resolutions, which are

         18  sort of the attachments to this piece are involved

         19  in setting something called the class share, the

         20  share that each tax class is responsible for of the

         21  levy.

         22                 The first resolution certifies the

         23  current base proportion, and these are the class

         24  shares that each tax class, as you know this class

         25  1, that's the one-, two-, three-family homes
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          2  residential property; class 2 are the multi-family

          3  residential properties; class 3 are utilities and

          4  class 4 are commercial properties. Each one of these

          5  classes is responsible for a different portion of

          6  the levy, and that portion or share changes

          7  year-over-year based on changes in assessed value,

          8  and certain state-mandated formula adjustments.

          9                 So, the first thing, I know all of

         10  you, I have gone over this in the delegations, too,

         11  and we've showed you a lot of the impact of this,

         12  the current based proportion basically sets what the

         13  class shares will be before they're adjusted for

         14  physical changes to properties in the classes.

         15                 The current based proportions, on one

         16  hand they show the increase or decrease over last

         17  year, and the current, for class 1, the residential

         18  home-owners, their class share increased by 8.7

         19  percent over last year. Class 2 share remain pretty

         20  flat, and class 3 and 4 experience decreases in

         21  their class shares.

         22                 The state, however, and state law

         23  mandates that no class' share can increase by more

         24  than five percent over last year's share.

         25                 So, what we have is a situation where
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          2  we need to take the excess from class 1 and share it

          3  among the other classes.

          4                 Now, the first thing I want you to

          5  know is that although the Council has decided to, we

          6  can ask the State to give us authority to lower the

          7  cap on class shares five percent or something lower,

          8  we can't ask them to raise it. We actually have done

          9  that, and we did that in the omnibus bill that was

         10  passed the other day.

         11                 I understand that both the Assembly

         12  and the Senate have passed the omnibus bill which

         13  includes granting us to lower the cap from five

         14  percent to two percent on class shares, however, has

         15  not yet been delivered to the Governor. So, it's not

         16  yet law. So, what we have to do today in order to

         17  adopt the tax rates, which is also important in

         18  closing the property tax revenue is the difference

         19  between all other revenue and the total revenue, so

         20  we need to do the tax-fixing resolution today in

         21  order to make the budget in balance.

         22                 So, we're adopting the cap on class

         23  shares of five percent. Now, as you know, the tax

         24  bills, the property tax bills have already been

         25  mailed out. The Administration has the discretion to
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          2  mail out the tax bills if we do not adopt the budget

          3  on or after June 5th, so the tax bills went out at

          4  least year's rates.

          5                 And then there will be a mid-year

          6  rebuilding adjusting the tax bill for the new rates.

          7  So, in a sense we're adopting the rates at the five

          8  percent, those are the rates, but no one is going to

          9  see these rates on their tax bills.

         10                 We will have to come back at some

         11  point and amend the tax fixing resolution to reflect

         12  the two percent cap on class shares, and then the

         13  resulting rates.

         14                 The Council also decided in both five

         15  percent and two percent cap to share the excess from

         16  class 1 onto class 3 and 4, that's the utilities and

         17  the commercial class, and not affect class 2, the

         18  multi-family apartment dwellings co-op and condo

         19  class in any way. So, basically their tax rate will

         20  be the same, it will not be affected, and their tax

         21  rate has actually gone down slightly from last

         22  year's tax rate.

         23                 The second -- that's the current base

         24  proportion resolution. The second resolution is

         25  something called the adjusted-based proportion, and
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          2  that makes a certain adjustment for physical changes

          3  from the final assessment role to the class shares,

          4  and, so, the actual class shares are what we call

          5  the adjusted base proportions. Those are the class

          6  shares that then determine each class' share of the

          7  real estate tax levy for this year. As I said those

          8  will change when we amend, when we do the amended

          9  tax fixing resolution.

         10                 The third resolution we do is

         11  actually set the tax rates and the levy and

         12  determine the levy and the property tax, and that is

         13  the tax fixing resolution itself and if you go look

         14  through it, it will actually give you the tax rates

         15  for the classes.

         16                 Even though the overall tax rate

         17  remains the same as it has been for the last ten, 11

         18  years now, at $10.37, the tax rates for the

         19  individual classes will vary, and Class 1's tax rate

         20  is a little high, it will be less than what it is in

         21  here. Class 2's rate will be about the same and

         22  class 3 and 4's rate will go up slightly when we do

         23  the amended version.

         24                 There are two sets of tax rates, one

         25  is the actual tax rate for everybody and then
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          2  there's the school portion, the tax rate that

          3  determines the school portion because veterans who

          4  get the veterans property tax exemption only pay

          5  taxes on the portion of the real estate taxes that

          6  goes into the general fund that does not fund the

          7  Board of Education.

          8                 So, I think that's about summary of

          9  it all. I think we all passed out sheets to you

         10  showing the effect of what it will be on an

         11  individual taxpayer and also what the savings will

         12  be.  For a typical class 1 home-owner the result of

         13  the shift from the five to two percent cap on class

         14  shares will save the home-owner about $52, and

         15  that's for a home valued about $245,000.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Any members have

         17  questions on the tax rate?

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER McMAHON: A quick one.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Council Member

         20  McMahon.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER McMAHON: Sorry, Mr.

         22  Chairman.

         23                 Nadine, if I understand that, if you

         24  would just go over again, by the shift in class

         25  share --
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          2                 MS. FELTON: Right.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER McMAHON: The average

          4  home-owner of the home of about $250,000 saves about

          5  how much?

          6                 MS. FELTON: About $52 as a result

          7  just of the class share shift which will result in a

          8  lower tax rate than what it would have been for

          9  class 1 if we retained the five percent cap on class

         10  shares. And that's about a $52 savings.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER McMAHON: And we're

         12  voting on that today. So, for the average home-owner

         13  that's a savings of about $52, reduction in the

         14  taxes; is that correct?

         15                 MS. FELTON: That's right. But that

         16  will be when we amend -- yes. Yes. Yes.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER McMAHON: So, it's the

         18  second tax cut that we're voting for today?

         19                 MS. FELTON: That and the discount.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER McMAHON: Thank you,

         21  Nadine.

         22                 Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Council Member

         24  Lopez.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: If we would
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          2  have been able to bring the commuter tax back --

          3                 MS. FELTON: Yes.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: How would it

          5  affect these particular taxes?

          6                 MS. FELTON: It doesn't affect this in

          7  any way.

          8                 The commuter tax is actually a

          9  non-resident tax on the personal income tax and it's

         10  paid by people who do not have their primary

         11  residence in New York City.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: But it would

         13  allow us to have a, I believe it's 350 --

         14                 MS. FELTON: Almost 500.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Almost 500

         16  million.

         17                 MS. FELTON: Almost 500 million would

         18  be raised.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: It would allow

         20  us to have that, therefore it would have an impact.

         21                 MS. FELTON: Yes, but you would have

         22  another possibility of either making, what do you

         23  call it, restorations to the expense side, or

         24  further tax reduction, or other additional tax

         25  reduction.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: Therefore it

          3  would have an impact on the taxes that we impose --

          4                 MS. FELTON: It doesn't have an impact

          5  on the property tax.

          6                 I mean, theoretically if you have a

          7  commuter tax and you wanted to reduce the overall

          8  tax rate and have a five -- an equivalent $500

          9  reduction -- $500 million reduction, and what we

         10  raise on the tax levy, you could do that, and then

         11  that would result in a property tax savings for

         12  people.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: Exactly. And

         14  that's my point, that the recommendation that this

         15  Council make in regard of bringing the commuter tax

         16  would have helped in our crisis at this point, and

         17  one of the ways that could have helped was to reduce

         18  the property taxes in the City and accommodate our

         19  City in regard to that, correct?

         20                 MS. FELTON: Yes, that's definitely --

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: And it's a pity

         22  that we have lost the opportunity to implement that

         23  commuter tax, and that's the policy of the Mayor not

         24  to do so.

         25                 MS. FELTON: Yes. The Council wanted
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          2  to do it.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: Thank you.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Any further

          5  questions for Ms. Felton?

          6                 Having none, you're excused.

          7                 We're now going to take testimony on

          8  the overall budget, Expense and Capital.

          9                 We're now going to hear from the

         10  distinguished, but tired, Director of Finance for

         11  the City Council, Ms. Larian Angelo, accompanied by

         12  Deputy Director Staci Emanuel.

         13                 Ms. Angelo, would you like to

         14  proceed?

         15                 MS. ANGELO: Good morning. Larian

         16  Angelo, Director of City Council Finance Division.

         17                 This afternoon the Council will vote

         18  on the Fiscal 2003 budget resolution. This budget

         19  will restore roughly $175 million in Council

         20  priorities. Among the more notable restorations are

         21  preserving six- to eight-week service at the

         22  libraries, certainly restoring education, ensuring

         23  that there are no cuts to educational programs, an

         24  expansion of 3,000 day care slots, a preservation of

         25  many programs in the Department of Business
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          2  Services, health housing, cultural, basically in a

          3  very bad budget year preserving the ability of the

          4  City to recover.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Any questions

          6  from the members?

          7                 Council Member McMahon. You can

          8  always rely on Council Member McMahon when there's a

          9  lull.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER McMAHON: Just a very

         11  heartfelt and emphatic thank you, Larian, to you and

         12  all of your staff. And I know that all the members

         13  feel that and I'm sure they'll be speaking to that

         14  more at the general session, but the people of the

         15  City of New York owe you and your staff a great debt

         16  of gratitude.

         17                 Thank you.

         18                 MS. ANGELO: Thank you very much,

         19  Council Member. I believe that the Council Division

         20  Finance staff is probably the best in the State of

         21  New York. They are uniformly some of the best folks.

         22                 And I forgot to, just because I'm

         23  tired, I forgot to say that the Council did preserve

         24  recycling as a program, and we'll be creating a

         25  commission to improve the program. My apologies.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER McMAHON: It's the

          3  first time I ever disagreed with you, Larian, I

          4  think you meant to say the best staff in the

          5  country.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Mr. Chairman,

          7  I just want to add to that and state that I just

          8  spoke to a group of Columbia University journalism

          9  students and they wanted to know why the process

         10  went well, and I said two words "Larian Angelo, and

         11  her staff." Thank you very much. I second Mr.

         12  McMahon.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Thank you. And I

         14  would be lax if I didn't also, as Chairman of the

         15  Finance Committee, add my praise to the entire

         16  Finance staff led by our Director Larian Angelo, who

         17  have worked tirelessly not just these last couple of

         18  nights, but for months and months and months on this

         19  long arduous budget process, and it's been a

         20  learning experience for me and I certainly would not

         21  have been able to handle my job if it wasn't for the

         22  fine work of the entire Finance staff.

         23                 And also I want to give special

         24  praise to our Counsel Jim Caras who held my hand

         25  throughout the budget hearing process, because as
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          2  many of you may know, we had the budget hearings for

          3  months and months and months, and on one occasion I

          4  think it went into the evening for many hours, and I

          5  could not have gotten through that process without

          6  Jim Caras on my right arm. So, thank you, Jim.

          7                 MS. ANGELO: And the staff, actually

          8  we'd like to return the compliment, because we're in

          9  a love fest, and just say everyone was

         10  extraordinarily impressed with the intelligence and

         11  thoughtfulness and seriousness with which the

         12  members approached what's probably the hardest thing

         13  you do in a year.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Council Member

         15  Lopez.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: I am sometimes

         17  short in recognizing some people's contribution when

         18  we're working collectively, and I want to make clear

         19  from my part in my committee that Michael and Peter,

         20  although they are imperfect human beings, because

         21  they're males and not women, have been very, very

         22  special to me and my Committee, and I want you to

         23  know that. I want you to know that both of them

         24  worked very, very hard with me, and as the Speaker

         25  -- as the Chairman of this Committee said, I am the
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          2  pistol of the City Council, but I am also a person

          3  who understand kindness and goodness when I see it,

          4  and those two human beings are very different

          5  people. Make sure they stay in my committee. If not,

          6  you're going to get in trouble. And thank you,

          7  Larian, you are great.

          8                 MR. TRAMONTANO: Frank Tramontano,

          9  Deputy Director. I guess for the record I should

         10  indicate that we're adopting also here the Capital

         11  budget, an austere capital budget of $6.2 billion in

         12  appropriations.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: So noted. Any

         14  questions on the Capital budget?

         15                 If someone can round up some more

         16  members, then we can actually vote on these bills.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER McMAHON: Mr. Chair,

         18  could I just ask one more question, please?

         19                 How much was the Capital budget last

         20  year, do you remember?

         21                 MR. TRAMONTANO: I believe it was nine

         22  or ten billion.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER McMAHON: Thank you.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: We're not going

         25  to recess, we don't want to lose anybody, but we're
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          2  just waiting for the rest of the members to vote on

          3  the budget bills.

          4                 Okay, we're back in session, Council

          5  Finance Committee.

          6                 I'm going to call upon our counsel

          7  Jim Caras to read the budget bills and related bills

          8  that we're going to vote on. We're going to take

          9  them as a package and anybody that wishes to vote

         10  against any individual bill will so indicate when

         11  they vote.

         12                 So, please follow the numbers on the

         13  bills as Jim Caras explains it.

         14                 Mr. Caras.

         15                 MR. CARAS: Thank you.

         16                 I'll read off all the items before

         17  us, those that are going to be recommended out of

         18  Committee, as well as those that are going to be

         19  filed. I'll indicate which ones are to be filed and

         20  not recommended out of Committee.

         21                 Proposed Intro. No. 218-A, which is

         22  the surcharge on wireless communication services;

         23  proprosed Intro. No. 219-A, which is the E911

         24  emergency telephone surcharge on land lines;

         25  proprosed Intro. No. 220-A, which is the decoupling,

                                                            66

          1  COMMITTEE ON FINANCE

          2  depreciation decoupling legislation; Intro. 221, an

          3  old cigarette tax legislation is going to be filed;

          4  proposed Intro. 230-A, which is increasing the

          5  latest tax on cigarettes, the current version of the

          6  legislation will be on the agenda for being

          7  recommended out of the Committee; preconsidered

          8  Intro. 233 is the retirement incentive legislation;

          9  property tax resolution computing and certifying the

         10  base proportion and the base percentages; property

         11  tax resolution computing and certifying the adjusted

         12  proportion for 2003; and the M and companion

         13  resolution actually fixing the 2003 property tax

         14  rate; the following seven items will be coupled to

         15  be filed:

         16                 M 37; M 38; M 39, M 40; M 41; M 42, M

         17  43. We have before us the Expense and the contract

         18  budget which is M 63 and the two companion

         19  resolutions adopting the expense and contract

         20  budgets. We have before us the capital budget, which

         21  is M 64 and the two companion Resolutions adopting

         22  the Capital budget.

         23                 We have before us M 65, communication

         24  and companion resolution, communication from the

         25  Mayor submitting the community development program
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          2  and the resolution approving that.

          3                 The following one, two, three, four,

          4  five - five items are to be filed: M 66; M 67; M 68;

          5  M 69 and M 70. We have the M, coupled resolution,

          6  companion resolution, the submission of the

          7  certificate setting forth the maximum amount of debt

          8  and reserve which the City can incur and the

          9  resolution approving that. M 184 and the companion

         10  resolution, one of the Banking Commission

         11  resolutions setting the discount rate at two

         12  percent. M 185 and companion Resolution 340, which

         13  is the communication and the resolution establishing

         14  the 18 percent interest rate for non-payment of

         15  taxes, where the annual tax on the parcel is more

         16  than $2,750 or where irrespective of tax the

         17  property is vacant or unimproved, or for charges

         18  performed by the Board of Health or Department of

         19  Health.

         20                 M 186 and companion resolution 341 is

         21  another one of the Banking Commission resolutions,

         22  setting the interest rate for non-payment of taxes

         23  on real property where the tax is under $2,750 or

         24  where the taxes are held in escrow by a mortgage

         25  escrow agent at 18 percent and nine percent for all
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          2  other parcels.

          3                 M 187 and companion Resolution 342.

          4  Another Banking Commission Resolution, the setting

          5  of the rate to be charged for non-payment of water

          6  rents and sewer rents at 18 percent, where the tax

          7  is more than 2,750 and nine percent for all other

          8  cases.

          9                 We have the M and companion

         10  resolution for the 2002 Expense budget modification,

         11  and the M and companion resolution for the 2002

         12  revenue modification.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Thank you.

         14                 I'm going to ask the clerk to call

         15  the roll, and once again, we're taking these as a

         16  package. Any member that wants to vote against any

         17  individual bill or resolution, please indicate so.

         18                 Call the roll, please.

         19                 COUNCIL CLERK: Weprin.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER WEPRIN: Aye on all.

         21                 COUNCIL CLERK: Lopez.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: Permission to

         23  explain my vote?

         24                 Mr. Chair, I have great difficulty

         25  voting for 218-A, 219-Am 230-A. I only going to vote
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          2  for this because I don't want to challenge in any

          3  way or anyone to perceive that I'm challenging your

          4  leadership and the good work that you have done in

          5  this Committee.

          6                 I'm going to respect that, and I want

          7  to make clear to everyone out there, that my

          8  intention is always to work with you. But it's very

          9  hard for me to tax the people who work in this City

         10  in the fashion that these three particular pieces of

         11  legislation has been put forward, taxation in this

         12  City.

         13                 Then out of absolute respect and

         14  absolute willingness and cooperation with your

         15  leadership, I'm voting aye on all. And thank you for

         16  the leadership that you have showed to us in this

         17  Committee and for the way that you have handled the

         18  work that we have done here.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: I appreciate your

         20  comments, Council member. And I know they come from

         21  the heart, and it's a great honor to have the pistol

         22  of the City Council on this Committee.

         23                 COUNCIL CLERK: Provenzano.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER PROVENZANO: Yes.

         25                 COUNCIL CLERK: Quinn.
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          2                 (No response.)

          3                 COUNCIL CLERK: Rivera.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER RIVERA: Aye on all.

          5                 COUNCIL CLERK: Comrie.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: Aye on all.

          7                 COUNCIL CLERK: Fidler.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER: Mr. Chairman,

          9  may I briefly explain my vote?

         10                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Yes, you may.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER: In every

         12  budget of this size, there are things that we won't

         13  like on revenue, there are things that aren't there

         14  that we would like on Expense and Capital, I just

         15  want to add that I think that the Council and the

         16  Mayor, the Speaker, the Chairman and the Finance

         17  staff has done a miraculous job of doing, reaching a

         18  compromise that does reflect the priorities of the

         19  people of the City of New York, as best as possible

         20  in the realities that we face.

         21                 I said this to State and federal leg

         22  and I'll say it here again. I don't think any of the

         23  51 of us and certainly the 38 new members came to

         24  this Council hoping that in their first term we

         25  would borrow short-term money, cut services and
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          2  raise revenues. But we also have to be mindful of

          3  the reality that we face, and, so, even though this

          4  package includes things that I'm sure many of us

          5  find distasteful, I think it's incumbent upon us to

          6  suck it up and vote for it, and, so, I'm going to

          7  vote aye on all.

          8                 COUNCIL CLERK: Jackson.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Aye on all.

         10                 COUNCIL CLERK: McMahon.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER McMAHON: Permission to

         12  explain my vote, Mr. Chairman.

         13                 Being the eternal optimist, I just

         14  want to re-emphasize the fact that it's a pleasure

         15  for me to cast my vote in favor of two tax cuts here

         16  today. One reducing the average home-owners tax bill

         17  by about $50 because of the shift in tax

         18  percentages, and also being able to allow those who

         19  pay their taxes early to enjoy a two percent tax

         20  cut, and I don't know if there's anything else we're

         21  voting on, but I'm surely going to vote for those

         22  tax cuts.

         23                 Let me also say on a serious note,

         24  Mr. Chairman, that it has been a pleasure for me to

         25  serve on this Committee these last six months,
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          2  especially during a long and arduous hearing process

          3  during which you let us through times and you've

          4  shown great leadership, a great compassion for the

          5  people of the City of New York, and a great deal of

          6  patience for your colleagues in the City Council who

          7  sometimes drag things on a little too long, and I

          8  want to thank you for that and in so doing I'll end

          9  my comment right there.

         10                 Thank you.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Thank you for

         12  those comments, Council Member McMahon.

         13                 COUNCIL CLERK: Sears.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER McMAHON: I forgot to

         15  say I vote aye.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: McMahon aye.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: I vote aye on

         18  all, but I wish to state that this is my first

         19  experience in the budget process in the City

         20  Council, and the words that we can say and to say

         21  thank you hardly seem sufficient and significant,

         22  because it has been one of the most arduous

         23  processes that anyone could go through, a process

         24  that required cooperation and leadership, and I

         25  think the Council and the Mayor and the staff and
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          2  the Chair of this Committee have shown that. And

          3  because of that are we able to vote on a budget that

          4  has cuts, we tried to make them as painless as

          5  possible, the restorations brought joy but it's the

          6  budget that keeps the City functioning, and I am

          7  very pleased to be part of that process and I thank

          8  you for your leadership.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: How do you vote?

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: Aye on all.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Thank you.

         12                 COUNCIL CLERK: Golden.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER GOLDEN: Thank you, Mr.

         14  Chair. I'd like to put a couple of no votes here, no

         15  surprise to anybody here I'm sure.

         16                 Three tax-fixing resolutions I vote

         17  no, decoupling I vote no, cigarette tax I vote no,

         18  wireless 911 surcharge I vote no, land line 911

         19  surcharge I vote no; all others I vote aye.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: So you're voting

         21  for the McMahon tax cuts?

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER GOLDEN: Yes, all those

         23  good tax cuts that he imagines in this budget, God

         24  bless him.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Council Member
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          2  Quinn.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: Thank you. If I

          4  could be excused to explain my vote?

          5                 I was surprised to hear Council

          6  Member McMahon describe himself as an optimist

          7  because that is not typically how those of us who

          8  are Irish-Americans are described, but thankfully

          9  Council Member Golden was able to come back in with

         10  the pessimism and put us back where we are more

         11  typically thought of.

         12                 I'm going to save some of my comments

         13  for when I vote on the floor, but before I vote on

         14  the budget in Committee today, I did want to echo

         15  the comments of one of my colleagues regarding your

         16  leadership, Chairperson Weprin.

         17                 Not only did you spend a great deal

         18  of time in this Committee proper working on the

         19  budget and leading us, but in the two years I've

         20  been on the Council prior to the new Council and

         21  before that in the years I worked in the City

         22  Council, I had never seen a chair of the Finance

         23  Committee spend so much time at the other committee

         24  budget hearings. I mean, you were at every Committee

         25  budget hearing, not just for a drop-in and wave if
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          2  you will, you were at most of the budget hearings

          3  for the majority of the budget hearings in all of

          4  the committees, and I think that is just on the

          5  clock quite a remarkable feat, but I think

          6  demonstrated a dedication to really be having an

          7  understanding of what was before all the agencies

          8  and the individual chairs and all the members and I

          9  think you really need to be commended for all of

         10  your work, but particularly for that I thought it

         11  was quite a feat and really outstanding.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: I appreciate

         13  those comments, and if I can say, on behalf of the

         14  Chair, it was a very good learning experience for me

         15  as well, and it enabled me to understand the

         16  different agencies that much better, and I hope even

         17  as I develop and have a little bit more knowledge

         18  through the next budget process, I will still strive

         19  to continue to do that, because it is important that

         20  everybody have a chance to be heard and I try to

         21  hear as many people as possible.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: And just lastly

         23  before I vote, I want to single out the work of the

         24  staff, all of the Finance Committee staff.

         25                 You know, many members of the staff,
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          2  we see a lot because they're with us at hearings and

          3  committees, but in addition to those folks who I

          4  very much want to thank, there's also a whole team

          5  of administrative staff who we may not know their

          6  faces but may know their voices from when we answer

          7  the phone, but we certainly know their work from all

          8  the paper and materials we get, and as kind of tired

          9  and beleaguered as we are as Council members or the

         10  advocates are, as advocates were being here for

         11  hours, sometimes we forget that many of the Finance

         12  staff have been literally up for 72 hours or got two

         13  hours sleep or haven't seen their children or their

         14  family in days, and, you know, as bad as this budget

         15  is, it's obviously better because of the work of the

         16  City Council, but really it's better because of the

         17  tireless, tireless work of our staff, and they work

         18  incredibly hard to try to find other ways to find

         19  revenue in this budget, aside from cutting the

         20  things that matter most to all of us and our

         21  constituents. And I wish I was more articulate and

         22  better able to express how grateful I know I am and

         23  all other 51 Council members are for all that the

         24  staff has done in this budget and really does on a

         25  12-month basis. So, with that said, I vote aye on

                                                            77

          1  COMMITTEE ON FINANCE

          2  all.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Thank you.

          4                 I'm going to keep the roll open, but

          5  if we could announce -- for those members that

          6  aren't here who wish to vote later, but if we could

          7  announce the vote for now.

          8                 COUNCIL CLERK: As of now the vote

          9  stands at 11 in the affirmative, zero negative, and

         10  no abstentions with the exception of there

         11  tax-fixing resos, Intro. 218-A, Intro. 219-A,

         12  Introduction 220-A and Introduction 230-A, which was

         13  adopted by a vote of ten in the affirmative, one

         14  negative and zero abstentions. All items are

         15  adopted.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Okay, this

         17  Committee meeting is now adjourned, with the

         18  exception of the roll remaining open for those

         19  members that did not vote and wish to vote before

         20  the full Stated Meeting.

         21                 Council Member Comrie would like to

         22  make a comment.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: Forget about

         24  it.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Please, Council
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          2  Member Comrie.

          3                 I apologize, Council Member Comrie.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: I was just

          5  going to speak to the staff in everything that they

          6  have done, but it's been already done so I will do

          7  it in the floor. I'll do it in the floor in the

          8  general meeting.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Okay.

         10                 Okay, we're now in recess.

         11                 (Hearing recessed at 2:48 p.m.)

         12                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Okay, we kept the

         13  roll open as I indicated earlier, and Council Member

         14  DeBlasio would like to vote.

         15                 COUNCIL CLERK: DeBlasio.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER DeBLASIO: Thank you,

         17  Mr. Chair. I vote aye on all.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Thank you.

         19                 COUNCIL CLERK: Council Member

         20  Gallagher, how do you vote, sir?

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER GALLAGHER: I vote no

         22  on three tax-fixing resolutions, no on Intro. 218-A,

         23  Intro. 219-A, 220-A and 230-A; and aye on all

         24  others.

         25                 The vote now stands at 13 in the
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          2  affirmative, zero in the negative and no

          3  abstentions, with the exception of three tax-fixing

          4  resos, and Intros 218-A, 219-A, 220-A and 230-A,

          5  which were adopted by a final vote of 12 in the

          6  affirmative, one in the negative and zero

          7  abstentions. And the vote remains open.

          8                 (Recess taken.)

          9                 COUNCIL CLERK: We're reopening the

         10  vote for the Committee on Finance.

         11                 Recording a vote for the Committee on

         12  Fiance. Council Member Jennings, how do you vote on

         13  the items, sir?

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER JENNINGS: Aye on all.

         15                 COUNCIL CLERK: By a final vote of 14

         16  in the affirmative, zero in the negative and no

         17  abstentions, with the exception of the three

         18  tax-fixing resolutions, Intros 218-A, 219-A, 220-A,

         19  and 230-A, were adopted by a vote of 13 in the

         20  affirmative, one in the negative and zero

         21  abstentions, all items are adopted. And the vote

         22  will remain open.

         23                 (Hearing recessed at 2:48 p.m.)

         24
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